IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

Case No. SC09-1570

v.

SIRRON JOHNSON,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

TRISHA MEGGS PATE TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 045489

CHRISTINE ANN GUARD ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0173959

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the appellee in the First District Court of Appeal and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner, the prosecution, or the State. Respondent, Sirron Johnson, the appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent or his proper name. The record on appeal consists of one volume and four supplemental volumes, which will be referenced as "R" or "SR", followed by any appropriate page number in parentheses. All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Johnson was convicted in Duval County Circuit Court on September 3, 1996 following a jury trial of armed sexual battery, armed kidnapping and armed robbery. (SRIV 8). Johnson took a direct appeal from his conviction and on August 13, 1998, the First District affirmed the conviction and sentence. <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 717 So. 2d 1057 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998). The facts of Johnson's case are set forth in the First District's opinion on his direct appeal, which provides:

A man identified at the trial of this case as Sirron Johnson accosted and raped three Jacksonville women between December 30, 1994, and January 31, 1995. Although Johnson was charged with crimes involving each of the three victims, the counts involving one victim, C.R., were severed and tried separately. The

present appeal arises out of Johnson's conviction for the January 31, 1995, armed kidnaping, armed sexual battery, and armed robbery of C.R.. Over a defense objection, the trial court allowed the jury to hear collateral crime evidence from Mr. Johnson's other two rape victims, P.W. and N.B..

Johnson, 717 So. 2d at 1059. The opinion described the crimes

as follows:

Around noon on December 30, 1994, P.W. parked her Independent Life Insurance office the at on car Atlantic Boulevard in Jacksonville. The office is near Art Museum Drive. After conducting some business for her employer in the insurance office, she returned to her car. When she opened her car door, a man, whom she identified at trial as Sirron Johnson, came up behind her with a gun. P.W. identified the gun as a small black automatic pistol. Johnson pushed the qun into P.W.'s back and asked for her purse. He then asked for her jewelry. He next instructed her to unlock the passenger door so he could enter the car. He opened the door after pulling his jacket over his hand. Johnson then ordered her to drive out of the Independent Life driveway and proceed to the Atlantic Gardens Apartments. After she parked the car, Johnson took her out of the car and walked her to the back of the apartment complex where there was a tall wooded area apparently housed fenced-in that certain mechanical equipment for the apartment complex. While holding the gun on her, Johnson forced her to remove her clothes and stand facing a wall. At that point, and for the first time, Johnson instructed P.W. that she should no longer look at him. He then forcibly penetrated her.

On January 13, 1995, at around 11:30 a.m., N.B. was waiting at a bus stop on Art Museum Drive. The bus stop is directly across the street from the Atlantic Gardens Apartments. After a few minutes, а man identified Sirron by N.B. at trial as Johnson, approached her and questioned her about when the next bus would be arriving. When, after a few minutes, she sat down on the bench, Johnson stood over her and placed a gun to her side. N.B. described the gun as a very dark semi-automatic pistol. Johnson then demanded that N.B. hand over any belongings she had. N.B. told

Johnson that he could take her purse and asked him just not to hurt her. He told her that he could not take the purse at the bus stop because people might then walked her see. He across the street bv threatening to kill her if she did not go with him. After crossing the street, Johnson took N.B. to an empty apartment at the Atlantic Gardens Apartments. Once in the apartment, Johnson instructed N.B. to take off all her clothing. Johnson then rifled through N.B.'s belongings. N.B. testified that while Johnson was doing this, he pulled his shirt sleeves over his hands. Johnson then ordered N.B. to lie down on the floor and, for the first time, Johnson covered N.B.'s face so that she could no longer see. After probing her vagina with his pistol, Johnson raped N.B..

On January 31, 1995, at around 8:30 a.m., C.R. Commonwealth Land and Title Insurance arrived at Company, her place of employment, and parked her car near the office door she normally used. After she entered the doorway, she noticed a man, identified by her at trial as Sirron Johnson, in the stairwell. Johnson grabbed her shoulder and ordered her to turn over her money. Johnson had a gun in his hand, described by C.R. as a black semi-automatic pistol. C.R. gave Johnson \$40.00, and Johnson then told her "we're going to go get in your car, and we're going to drive to a stoplight, and you are going to let me out of your car. If you scream or try to run, I'm going to kill you." Once in the car, Johnson directed C.R. to a nearby apartment complex, the Atlantic Garden Apartments. During the time Johnson was in C.R.'s car, he did not touch anything, and made a point to pull his sleeves down over his hands before he got out of the car. At the apartment complex, Johnson led C.R. to the back of the apartments to a fenced-in area which housed mechanical equipment. After going through her purse and wallet, Johnson ordered C.R. to take off all her clothes. She complied after he threatened to kill her if she did not remove her clothing. Then, for the first time, Johnson told C.R. to close her eyes, and warned her that if she opened her eyes he would kill her. After forcing her to lie down on top of her clothes, Johnson raped C.R.

<u>Id.</u> at 1059-60. P.W. and N.B. identified a man, not Johnson, from a photographic lineup. <u>See id.</u> at 1060. C.R. identified

Johnson from an actual in person lineup. <u>See id.</u> at 1060-61. The DNA evidence obtained as to the crimes against all three women identified Johnson as their attacker. <u>See id.</u> at 1061-62. P.W. and N.B. were both told that they had incorrectly identified their attacker. <u>See id.</u> at 1061. P.W. and N.B. correctly identified a picture of Johnson as being their attacker when shown a photograph before trial. See id.

With respect to the departure sentence imposed following trial, the First District found:

Under the sentencing guidelines, adopted by our Legislature in its wisdom, Sirron Johnson, having been convicted of armed kidnapping, armed sexual battery, and armed robbery, scored in a guideline range of 9.6 to 16 years prison. On the motion of the State, the court imposed a 45-year [sic] sentence on each count to run concurrently. The judge announced that he was departing from the guidelines and would enter a written order setting forth his reasons within seven days. In moving for a departure, the State had noted juvenile offenses, appellant's unscored escalating pattern of criminal conduct, and premeditation and calculation in the present offenses. Six days after sentencing, the court entered its written departure order noting the factors that had been argued by the State at sentencing. Counsel for appellant did not, at that time, file a motion under rule 3.800(b), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, concerning the departure.

On appeal appellant argues that although a trial judge may delay shortly in issuing a written departure order, the judge must orally articulate departure reasons at sentencing under Rule 3.702(d)(18)(A), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. Here, the trial judge did not state his reasons, orally or otherwise, at sentencing. Accordingly, argues appellant, the judge's written order does not save the departure sentence, and appellant is entitled to a guideline sentence for his crimes. We hold that the sentencing issue is not preserved for appeal because appellant made no objection at the time of sentencing concerning the trial court's failure to strictly abide by the rules of criminal procedure, nor did he file a Rule 3.800(b) motion within thirty days. Amendments to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.020(g) and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800, 675 So. 2d 1374 (Fla.1996); Johnson v. State, 697 So. 2d 1245 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied, 703 So. 2d 476 (Fla. 1997); and <u>Williams v. State</u>, 697 So. 2d 164 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied, 700 So. 2d 689 (Fla. 1997). Indeed, it is not unlikely that defense counsel recognized that by orally announcing his intent to depart, the trial judge simply adopted the reasons articulated by the State.

Id. at 1065-66.

Johnson then invoked the jurisdiction of this Court, and this Court accepted jurisdiction. <u>See Johnson v. State</u>, 727 So. 2d 906 (Fla. 1998). On June 22, 2000, this Court issued its opinion in Johnson's appeal. <u>See Johnson v. State</u>, 761 So. 2d 318 (2000). This Court approved of the First District's decision based upon this Court's decision in <u>Maddox v. State</u>, 760 So. 2d 89 (Fla. 2000). <u>See id.</u> This Court declined to address any other issues. See id.

Johnson next filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the United States Supreme Court. The United States Supreme Court denied the request on October 2, 2000. <u>See Johnson v. Florida</u>, 531 U.S. 889 (2000).

On December 4, 2000, Johnson filed a motion to correct illegal sentence in the trial court. (SRI 2). In his motion, Johnson contended that the trial court had sentenced him to a departure sentence in excess of the statutory maximum. (SRI 2).

The trial court found that two of Johnson's sentences did in fact exceed the statutory maximum sentence for the crimes as to counts six and seven. (SRI 2). The trial court resentenced Johnson on June 19, 2002 as to counts six and seven. (SRI 2). The new sentencing order required that Johnson be imprisoned for a term of forty years as to count six and forty years on count (SRIV 8-9). The trial court denied Johnson's request as seven. to count eight and left Johnson's sentence as to count eight in place at forty eight years. (SRIV 7). The resentencing documents reflect a new sentence was imposed only as to counts six and seven. (SRIV 8-9). Johnson was not resentenced as to count eight, the remaining 48 year original sentence. (SRIV 10, 12). These facts are confirmed by the record in Johnson's appeal related to his resentencing. (Appendix A). Johnson's appeal was dismissed. (SRI 2).

On November 21, 2007, Johnson filed a second motion to correct illegal sentence. (SRI 1). Johnson asserted for the first time that his sentence was illegal under the decisions in Blakely and Apprendi. (SRI 3). Johnson claimed that the State did not produce a basis for an enhanced sentence at his resentencing hearing and that the trial judge did not make any independent findings for the imposition of an enhanced sentence at his resentencing hearing. (SRI 3). The trial court denied the motion finding that Blakely and Apprendi did not

retroactively apply to Johnson's case. (SRI 6). The trial court concluded that, even if <u>Apprendi</u> applied to Johnson's sentence, Johnson's sentence did not exceed the statutory maximum for the offenses for which he was convicted. (SRI 7).

Johnson appealed. The First District found the following applicable facts:

On August 24, 1996, following a jury trial, the convicted appellant was of one count armed of kidnapping, one count of armed sexual battery, and one count of armed robbery. He alleges that the permitted sentencing range on his guidelines scoresheet was 9.6 to 16 years' imprisonment. Appellant alleges that the trial court sentenced appellant to concurrent upward departure sentences of 48 years' imprisonment on each count. The Florida Supreme Court affirmed the appellant's judgment and sentence on June 22, 2000. On June 19, 2002, in response to a motion to correct illegal sentence, the appellant was resentenced to concurrent terms of 40 years' imprisonment on the charges of armed kidnapping and armed sexual battery. The trial court reimposed the same 48 year sentence on the charge of armed robbery.

Johnson v. State, 18 So. 3d 623, 624 (Fla 1st DCA 2009). The

First District held:

In <u>Isaac v. State</u>, 911 So. 2d 813 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005), this Court held that although <u>Apprendi</u> does not apply retroactively, <u>Apprendi</u> and <u>Blakely</u> apply to a defendant who is resentenced after <u>Apprendi</u> became final but before <u>Blakely</u> was decided. This holding was recently reaffirmed in <u>Monnar v. State</u>, 984 So.2d 619 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008). In that case, this Court noted that the supreme court held in <u>Galindez v. State</u>, 955 So.2d 517 (Fla.2007), that a harmless error analysis applies to any <u>Apprendi/Blakely</u> error. This Court went on to hold:

The supreme court's decision [in <u>Galindez</u>] did not, however, supersede or disapprove of our decision in <u>Isaac v. State</u>, 911 So. 2d 813 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005), which held that <u>Apprendi v. New</u> <u>Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000), and <u>Blakely v. Washington</u>, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004), although decided after Isaac's conviction and original sentence were final, apply to any resentencing that took place after <u>Apprendi</u> came down, even resentencings taking place before Blakely was decided. On this point, <u>Isaac</u> still controls, not as law of the case, but as governing precedent within the First District.

Monnar, 984 So. 2d at 619.

Here, the appellant was resentenced after <u>Apprendi</u> was decided but before <u>Blakely</u> came down. Thus, pursuant to <u>Isaac</u>, the dictates of <u>Apprendi</u> and Blakely apply to appellant's sentences.

The trial court held that even if Apprendi imposed did not applies, the sentences violate Apprendi because they were not above the statutory maximums for the offenses. However, the appellant was sentenced pursuant to the sentencing guidelines, not the Criminal Punishment Code. Thus, as Blakely makes clear, the statutory maximum would be the maximum guidelines sentence appellant could receive without the court imposing an upward departure. See Behl v. State, 898 So. 2d 217 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005)(holding that pursuant to Blakely, "under a guidelines sentencing scheme which restricts judicial discretion in imposing sentences, the factors used to calculate the maximum guidelines sentence to which a defendant is exposed must be based either on (1) findings made by the jury, (2) facts admitted by the defendant, or (3) the defendant's prior convictions").

The State invoked jurisdiction in this Court. This Court accepted jurisdiction, and this brief follows that order. <u>See</u> <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 2012 WL 1435713 (Fla. March 14, 2012).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I

Johnson's sentence constitutes a legal sentence under Blakely is not applicable to Johnson's challenged Apprendi. sentence. First, Johnson's departure sentence was imposed based upon his prior convictions and recidivism. Under Apprendi and Blakely, no jury finding is required to depart on those grounds. Second, Johnson failed to preserve his challenge by objecting at his original trial, sentencing or by motion during his direct appeal as to count eight and failed to preserve his challenge at his subsequent resentencing as to counts six and seven. Third, other state and federal courts have held that Apprendi and Blakely do not apply retroactively on collateral challenges. This Court's precedents dictate the same outcome, as Blakely should be applied to convictions and sentences that became final prior to their advent. This Court held in Hughes v. State, 901 So. 2d 837 (Fla. 2005), that Apprendi does not apply retroactively. Likewise, under this Court's decision in Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980), Blakely is not subject to retroactive imposition. Fourth, Blakely is not applicable because the judge made no further findings rather than the jury after the Court ruled in Apprendi and Blakely. Fifth, applying Blakely to Johnson's case essentially gives Blakely retroactive application thereby destroying the State's interest in the

finality of the conviction. **Finally**, assuming <u>Apprendi</u> applies, since <u>Blakely</u> does not apply, Johnson's sentence does not violate <u>Apprendi</u> because it does not exceed the statutory maximum specified in section 775.082, Florida Statutes.

Issue II

The First District's decision finding that Johnson was resentenced on count eight in 2002 is not supported by competent substantial evidence.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER BLAKELY V. WASHINGTON, 542 U.S. 296 (2004), APPLIES TO JOHNSON'S CASE?

The First District erroneously concluded that <u>Blakely</u> applied to Johnson's case relying on its precedent set forth in Isaac v. State, 911 So. 2d 813 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005).

Standard of Review

The issue of the applicability of the decisions of the United States Supreme Court in <u>Apprendi</u>, 530 U.S., and <u>Blakely</u>, 542 U.S., is a question of law to be determined under the *de novo* standard of review.

Preservation

Because the State was the appellee below and this case comes to this Court on a summary denial of a motion seeking collateral relief, the State has not previously been required by the rules of appellate procedure to file a brief in this matter and no further preservation was required for the matters presented by it here. Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.141(b)(2)(C) provides that "[n]o briefs or oral argument shall be required, but any appellant's brief shall be filed within 15 days of the filing of the notice of appeal. The court may request a response from the appellee before ruling." The State filed no brief below, and therefore, no further preservation is required to present the matters the State presents in this

appeal.

With respect to the State's position as to Johnson's proper preservation and presentation, the State's arguments with respect to those matters are presented in the argument section of this brief.

Argument

A. This Court's Decision in Fleming and Its Dismissal Order in Isaac Are Not Dispositive of This Case.

With respect to the history of recent <u>Blakely</u> and <u>Apprendi</u> related cases before this Court, the State notes the following at the outset. Recently, in <u>State v. Fleming</u>, 61 So. 3d 399, 399 (Fla. 2009), this Court concluded that <u>Apprendi</u> and <u>Blakely</u> apply to a *de novo* resentencing that becomes final after <u>Apprendi</u> and <u>Blakely</u> were decided. <u>Fleming</u> was a <u>Blakely</u> pipeline case because Fleming's resentencing was not final at the time <u>Blakely</u> issued. <u>See id.</u> at 408. Fleming raised his claims via a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b)(2) motion during the course of his direct appeal from resentencing. See id. at 401.

Following <u>Fleming</u>, this Court issued an order dismissing review in <u>State v. Isaac</u>, 66 So. 3d 912 (Fla. 2011). In its order, this Court stated:

We previously granted review of <u>Isaac v. State</u>, 911 So. 2d 813 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005), to resolve a certified conflict in the district courts regarding the applicability of <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), and Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296

(2004), to resentencing proceedings which became final after Apprendi and Blakely issued where the conviction and the original sentence were final before they issued. See art. V, § 3(b)(4), Fla. Const; State v. Isaac, 4 So. 3d 677 (Fla.2009) (granting review). We resolved this conflict, however, in State v. Fleming, 36 Fla. L. Weekly S50 (Fla. Feb. 3, 2011), revised, 36 Fla. L. Weekly S198 (Fla. Apr. 28, 2011) (granting motion for clarification in part and remanding for analysis). Accordingly, harmless error we have determined to discharge jurisdiction in Isaac and dismiss this review proceeding.

In the present case, Johnson's resentencing was final long before the United States Supreme Court issued its Blakely decision on June 24, 2004. Johnson's conviction and sentence as to count eight became final on October 2, 2000 when the United States Supreme Court denied his petition for writ of certiorari. See Johnson, 531 U.S. Johnson's resentencing as to counts six and seven became final on November 6, 2002, when his appeal was dismissed. (SRIII 2). As a result, it is clear that Johnson's case does not fall within the purview of the Fleming decision. Further, because this Court discharged jurisdiction and dismissed the Isaac case, there is no precedential decision affecting the outcome of this case to be derived from this Court's order in Isaac. The applicability of Apprendi to Johnson's convictions is discussed infra.

B. The United States Supreme Court Decisions in Apprendi and Blakely Are Inapplicable to This Case Because Johnson's Sentence was Enhanced on the Basis of His Prior Criminal Record.

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