### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

	On Discretionary Review from a Decision of the District Court of Appeal, First District		
	ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT SIRRON JOHNSON		
	Respondent/		
SIRRON .	JOHNSON,  Paspondent		
V.	CASE NO: SC09-1570		
	Petitioner,		
STATE O	F FLORIDA,		

HENRY G. GYDEN, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 158127 HAAS, LEWIS, DIFIORE P.A. 4921 Memorial Highway, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33634 (813) 253-5333 (813) 254-8555 Facsimile Attorney for Respondent

#

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This review proceeding comes before the Court on an express and direct conflict with the decision of <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 18 So. 3d 623 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009). In <u>Johnson</u>, the First District Court of Appeal held that, when an incarcerated prisoner was resentenced and the resentence became final after the decision in <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), but before the issuance of <u>Blakely v. Washington</u>, 542 U.S. 296 (2004), the holding in <u>Blakely</u> should be applied retroactively to the sentence, such that all factual findings that enhanced the prisoner's sentence, other than findings regarding prior convictions, must be determined by a jury and proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

The First District's holding is consistent with this Court's decision in Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980), regarding retroactive application of a change of law. Indeed, the Supreme Court's decision in Blakely was intended to clarify and give full effect to its decision in Apprendi. Since the First District's limited retroactive application of Blakely applies only to cases falling within the short four-year period between the issuance of Apprendi and the issuance of Blakely, the retroactive application of Blakely will not cause a substantial disruption to the administration of justice. This Court should not be persuaded by federal cases to the contrary, as those cases rely on a standard that is not applicable in Florida.

Lastly, while the only issue the State preserved in this appeal is the discrete issue of whether <u>Blakely</u> can be given limited retroactive application, if this Court were to examine the other issues the State raises, Respondent would still be entitled to relief under <u>Blakely</u>. The record reflects that Respondent's sentences were enhanced based on at least one fact found by the trial judge, and not the jury. Moreover, Respondent properly preserved his <u>Apprendi/Blakely</u> challenge by filing a rule 3.800 motion. Furthermore, Respondent was resentenced on all counts post-<u>Apprendi</u> or alternatively, his sentence did not become final until after <u>Apprendi</u> was decided. For these reasons, Respondent properly preserved this issue and his sentence falls within the period of time for which <u>Blakely</u> should be given retroactive application, and thus, he is entitled to relief under Blakely.

This Court should adopt the holding of the First District and grant <u>Blakely</u> limited retroactive application.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The issue in this case is whether <u>Blakely</u> can be given limited retroactive application to resentences that were final after <u>Apprendi</u> was decided, but before <u>Blakely</u> was issued. This is a question of law subject to *de novo* review. <u>Dufour v.</u> State, 69 So. 3d 235, 246 (Fla. 2011).

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

# I. THIS COURT SHOULD LIMIT ITS APPELLATE REVIEW TO THE DISCRETE ISSUE OF WHETHER <u>BLAKELY</u> CAN BE GIVEN LIMITED RETROACTIVE APPLICATION

This Court should limit its review of the First District's decision in Johnson v. State, 18 So. 3d 623 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009), to the discrete issue of whether Blakely can be given limited retroactive application to resentences that became final post-Apprendi, but before Blakely was issued. This is the only issue addressed by the First District in its Johnson decision. The First District did not discuss whether Johnson was entitled to resentencing under Blakely, except as to its determination that Blakely would apply to Johnson's sentence if his other allegations proved to be true.

Rather than limit its brief to the discrete issue addressed by the First District, the State has raised several additional procedural issues and asserts that, even if <a href="Blakely">Blakely</a> applied retroactively, Johnson would not be entitled to relief. The State contends that: (1) Johnson's sentence was enhanced solely due to prior convictions and thus, <a href="Apprendi">Apprendi</a> does not apply; (2) Johnson was not resentenced as to one of his counts and thus, his sentence was final as to that count prior to the issuance of <a href="Apprendi">Apprendi</a>; and (3) Johnson failed to properly preserve the <a href="Apprendi/Blakely">Apprendi/Blakely</a> issue. While Johnson disagrees with the State's position on these issues and is fully confident that he is entitled to relief under Blakely, the

more important fact is that the State failed to preserve any of these issues for appellate review.

This Court has held that the State has the obligation to first raise issues in the district court before those issues can be heard on appeal to this Court. See State v. Fleming, 61 So. 3d 399, 401 (Fla. 2011) (noting that State failed to preserve argument that Fleming's rule 3.800(b) motion could not preserve the Apprendi/Blakely issue for review where State did not raise the issue before the district court); see also Salser v. State, 613 So. 2d 471, 472 n.2 (Fla. 1993) (Kogan, J., dissenting) ("Moreover, I find no indication that the state attempted to raise this issue before the district court. Accordingly, even if the state's assertions are correct, the state has waived the issue for purposes of appeal."). Indeed, a fundamental principle of appellate practice is that, other than fundamental errors, issues must be preserved in order to be reviewed on appeal.

In this case, the State filed a notice that it would not file an answer brief unless it was directed to do so by the First District. (App. 2). The First District, however, did direct the State to file a response as to why the summary denial of Johnson's claim should not be reversed and the cause remanded for further proceedings to determine if Johnson was entitled to resentencing. (App. 3). Contrary to the assertion it made in its notice, the State failed to file an answer brief. Instead, the State filed a Motion to Supplement the Record and later a

Motion to Correct the Record, which were both granted by the First District. After granting the motions, the First District again directed the State to file a response.

Rather than file an answer brief, the State filed a Motion to Stay, which only raised the issue as to whether <u>Blakely</u> could be given retroactive application. The First District denied the motion to stay, treated the motion as the State's response, and proceeded with the appeal.

After the First District issued its opinion, the State did not file a motion for rehearing raising any of the issues it now raises before this Court. Rather, the State filed a motion to withhold issuance of the mandate, which again only raised the legal issue as to whether <u>Blakely</u> could be given retroactive application.

In failing to raise in the district court the additional issues it now presents to this Court, the State has waived those issues. Indeed, in apparent recognition of this fact, the State begins its arguments in its Initial Brief with a section titled "Preservation," in which it asserts that Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.141(b)(2)(C), provides that "[n]o briefs or oral argument shall be required, but any appellant's brief shall be filed within 15 days of the filing of the notice of appeal." Essentially, the State argues that it can file a notice stating that it will submit an answer brief if directed to do so, wholly ignore a district court's order to show cause directing the State to file a brief, fail to raise any issue before the district court, and then once an adverse opinion is issued, it can seek to invoke this

Court's discretionary jurisdiction and raise any issue it chooses in an effort to have the district court's decision reversed. Johnson does not believe this is the procedure authorized in Florida, nor should it be.

Rule 9.141(b)(2)(C), which was proceeded by the former rule 9.140(g), "provides a streamlined procedure for the handling of appeals from orders denying 3.850 motions without hearing. Among other things, it provides that 'no briefs or oral argument shall be required." See Toler v. State, 493 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). The Rule's assumption is that most appeals from summary denial orders can be disposed of without briefs and without participation by the State. However, the rule also provides that the appellate court "may request a response from the State before ruling."

In this case, the First District issued an Order to Show Cause directing the State to file a response. Despite the fact that the State filed a notice stating it would submit an answer brief in response to such an order, the State here ignored the order. While there may be some policy justification for not requiring the State to file a brief in every post-conviction summary denial case, it seems incredible that the State can ignore an Order to Show Cause issued by a district court—an order that clearly indicates that the district court intends to reverse a summary denial—and after an adverse opinion is issued by the district court, seek to have this Court accept jurisdiction and raise issues in its brief the State could not be

bothered to raise before the district court. At the very least, the State should have filed a motion for rehearing bringing to the attention of the district court issues the court may have overlooked. The State did not do even that much here.

While the State is likely to complain that it has limited resources, it seems highly disingenuous for the State to assert that it lacked the resources to respond to the First District's order to show cause, but it nonetheless has the resources to challenge the First District's decision and submit a comprehensive appellate brief in this appeal. If this were a case in which the State were correct that the defendant was not entitled to relief, which is not the case here, the First District could have affirmed the summary denial based on the additional arguments raised by the State. This would have saved judicial resources, and the State could have avoided the extra work of preparing and filing jurisdictional briefs in this Court. There simply is no basis for justifying the State's failure to file a responsive brief here, especially considering that the State indicated it would file an answer brief if asked to do so and the State managed to file a Motion to Stay raising apparently the only issue the State wanted heard.

This Court should follow its own precedent and determine that the State here has failed to preserve any issue other than the discrete legal issue of whether <u>Blakely</u> can be given limited retroactive application, which is the only issue addressed by the First District. Johnson would also suggest that this Court adopt a

policy that, if the State wishes to raise an issue before this Court regarding the reversal of a summary denial of a post-conviction motion and the district court has issued an order to show cause indicating that it is inclined to reverse the summary denial, the State must raise the issue in the district court by filing a responsive brief if the State wishes to have the issue heard on review in this Court.

II. THE FIRST DISTRICT'S APPLICATION OF <u>BLAKELY</u> TO JOHNSON'S CASE IS CONSISTENT WITH THE PRINCIPLES OF RETROACTIVE APPLICATION OF A NEW CRIMINAL LAW AS <u>EXPRESSED IN WITT V. STATE</u>, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980).

Johnson assumes that this Court will agree that the only issue preserved in this appeal is whether the Supreme Court of the United State's decision in Blakely should be given limited retroactive application, and thus, Johnson will address that issue first. Of importance, it should initially be clarified that the issue is not, as the State seems to contend, whether Blakely should be applied retroactively to all past criminal convictions in Florida. The First District only afforded <u>limited</u> retroactive application to Blakely to those few defendants whose resentencing was not final post-Apprendi but which became final pre-Blakely. Apprendi was decided on June 25, 2000. Blakely was decided on June 24, 2004. Thus, there is only a four-year period in which circuit courts might have misconstrued the Apprendi reference to "statutory maximum" as meaning the maximum sentence allowed by statute as opposed to the maximum sentence a judge can impose based on the facts found by a jury. The limited retroactive application of Blakely adopted by the First District comports with this Court's seminal case in Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980).

### A. Retroactive Analysis Under Witt

In <u>Witt</u>, this Court held that a change of law would be applied retroactively if the change: (a) emanates from this Court or the United States Supreme Court, (b) is constitutional in nature, and (c) constitutes a development of fundamental significance." <u>Id.</u> at 931. The State concedes that <u>Blakely</u> satisfies the first two prongs of this test. (Initial Brief, p. 25-26). The State, however, asserts that <u>Blakely</u> does not constitute a development of "fundamental significance." (Initial Brief, p. 26). The State is mistaken.

In determining whether a law constitutes a "development of fundamental significance," this Court has stated laws that are fundamentally significant generally fall within one of two categories: (1) changes "which place beyond the authority of the state the power to regulate certain conduct or impose certain penalties;" and (2) changes which are of sufficient magnitude to necessitate retroactive application as ascertained by the three-fold test of Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293 (1967), and Linkletter v. Walker, 381 U.S. 618 (1965). See Witt, 387 So. 2d at 929-931. Johnson concedes that the holding in Blakely does not fall within the first category, but Blakely does fit within the second category.

The three-fold test of <u>Stovall</u> and <u>Linkletter</u> requires a consideration of: (a) the purpose to be served by the new rule; (b) the extent of reliance on the old rule; and (c) the effect of retroactive application of the rule on the administration of justice. <u>Witt</u>, 387 So. 2d at 926. If one examines these three factors as to the <u>Blakely</u> decision, such analysis would weigh in favor of approving the limited retroactive application of <u>Blakely</u> adopted by the First District.

#### 1. The Purpose To Be Served By The New Rule

In Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), the defendant was charged with numerous offenses stemming from his act of firing a gun into the home of an African-American. 530 U.S. at 469. Apprendi entered into a plea agreement in which he agreed to plead guilty to three of the twenty-three counts charged. See id. at 469-70. Each of the counts carried a sentence of between 5 and 10 years in prison. As part of the plea bargain, the prosecution reserved the right to seek an enhanced sentence on the basis that the crime was committed with a biased purpose. Such an enhancement would have doubled the sentence otherwise imposed for each of the crimes. Apprendi, in turn, reserved the right to challenge the bias crime enhancement, claiming it violated the federal Constitution. Id. at 470.

The trial judge accepted Apprendi's plea. The trial judge found "by a preponderance of the evidence" that Apprendi's crime was motivated by the race of

the victims. <u>Id.</u> at 471. He sentenced Apprendi to 12 years in prison—2 years above the maximum sentence authorized for the weapons charge apart from the hate-crime enhancement. <u>Id.</u>

The Supreme Court addressed whether the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution required that a jury make the determination that Apprendi's actions had been a hate crime. The Supreme Court ruled that any fact, other than a prior conviction, "that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury, and proved beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Id.</u> at 490. The Court stated, "The New Jersey procedure challenged in this case is an unacceptable departure from the jury tradition that is an indispensable part of our criminal justice system." Id. at 497.

Four years after its <u>Apprendi</u> decision, the Supreme Court heard <u>Blakely v. Washington</u>, 542 U.S. 296 (2004). In <u>Blakely</u>, the defendant pled guilty to second-degree kidnapping. <u>Id.</u> at 298. At the plea hearing, Blakely admitted the facts necessary to support the charges but no others. Under Washington law, second-degree kidnapping was a class B felony, punishable by a maximum sentence of 10 years in prison. <u>Id.</u> at 299. However, under Washington's mandatory sentencing guidelines, the judge was required to sentence Blakely to no less than 49 and no more than 53 months in prison, unless he had "substantial and compelling" reasons to impose a sentence outside that range. <u>Id.</u> at 299-300.

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